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DECISION


David E. Roberts is subject to discipline for committing and pleading guilty to the crime of wire fraud and for lacking good moral character and not being competent to transact business in such a way as to safeguard the public.

Procedure


On February 1, 2006, the Missouri Real Estate Commission (“the MREC”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Roberts.  Roberts was served with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing on February 7, 2006.  On July 10, 2006, we held a hearing on the complaint.  Assistant Attorney General Glen D. Webb represented the MREC.  Donald C. MacPherson, Attorney at Law, represented Roberts.  The matter became ready for our decision on August 4, 2006, the date the transcript was filed.

Findings of Fact

1. Roberts is licensed as a real estate broker salesperson.  His license is, and was at all relevant times, current and active.

2. Roberts was doing business as and was the president of Roberts Equipment Company, Inc. (“Roberts Equipment”) in Warrensburg, Missouri.  Roberts Equipment was an authorized dealer in John Deere agricultural and consumer equipment, machines, products, parts, and supplies (“equipment”).
3. John Deere Company, Kansas City, Missouri, (“John Deere”) manufactured John Deere agricultural and consumer equipment, which was distributed and sold through independent dealers pursuant to agreements between John Deere and the dealers.
4. Under the terms of the dealer agreement, Roberts Equipment was allowed to finance new and trade-in equipment by floor plan financing
 provided by John Deere.  As a dealer, Roberts could request floor plan financing by describing and identifying on a settlement form eligible floor plan equipment.
5. Roberts Equipment received a statement from John Deere for the equipment shipped to it.  Upon sale of the equipment, Roberts Equipment was required to submit a settlement sheet to John Deere, listing among other things the items sold, the amount and method of payment, the value of any trade-in, and whether the trade-in was to be floor planned.  John Deere did not require repayment of the dealer’s floor plan loan as long as the dealer had inventory at the dealership securing the outstanding loan.  Upon sale of the inventory, payment was required. John Deere gave the dealer the wholesale value of trade-ins as a credit against the 
dealer’s floor plan loan for six months or until the trade-in was sold, whichever was sooner.  John Deere had a security interest in the equipment covered by the floor plan financing.

6. Roberts used a computer system for communication between the dealership and John Deere.  When Roberts Equipment sold a piece of John Deere equipment, Roberts transmitted to John Deere the information by electronic mail (e-mail) using the computer.  The information went from the dealership to the John Deere processing center in Moline, Illinois.  Once processed there, the information was re​transmitted by e-mail to the John Deere regional office in Lenexa, Kansas.
7. In addition to submitting sales information via computer, Roberts also submitted a copy of sales invoices by mail to the John Deere regional office in Lenexa, Kansas, for the purpose of sales and inventory reporting and verification.
8. Beginning in approximately November 1997 and continuing through December 11, 1998, at Warrensburg, Roberts knowingly executed a scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money, funds, credits, and other property by means of material false and fraudulent pretenses and representations.
9. Roberts submitted by interstate wire facilities – e-mail – false and fraudulent settlement sheets to John Deere, falsely claiming that equipment had been sold and that as part of the sale there had been a trade-in of other equipment.  As a result of this, Roberts reduced his payment obligation to John Deere on the sale of the new equipment and delayed payment of the amount owed until the false trade-in equipment was sold, or for up to six months.
10. Roberts submitted by mail false purchase orders to John Deere, falsely representing that equipment had been sold and that as part of the sale there had been a trade-in of other equipment; the information from the purchase orders was reflected in the settlement sheets submitted to John Deere electronically.
11. When Roberts sold or reported the sale of equipment, instead of paying John Deere the amount due under the terms of the floor plan financing agreement, Roberts created false and fictitious trade-ins to offset the amount of the payment due John Deere for the sale.
12. Roberts failed to report sales of new equipment and failed to pay John Deere the amount due under the terms of the floor plan financing agreement for new equipment sales.
13. When John Deere representatives visited Roberts Equipment to verify inventory, Roberts falsely represented that inventory had been sold, was out on loan or on rental, was being used as demonstrators, or for some other reason was not then present at the dealership.
14. Roberts obtained by fraud from John Deere money, funds, credits and other property in the approximate total amount of $368,703.
15. Prior to November 20, 2003, Roberts was charged with six counts of the Class D felony fraud by wire, in violation of 18 U.S.C.§ 1343, for conduct as described in the Information (“Information”).
16. On November 20, 2003, Roberts signed a plea agreement (“plea agreement”) in the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri, Western Division (“the Court”) in which he pled guilty to the six counts of fraud by wire as set forth in the Information; admitted to the criminal allegations set forth in the Information; and admitted to the facts underlying the criminal allegations set forth in the Information.
17. On May 25, 2004, the Court found Roberts guilty and imposed a sentence, which was issued in a judgment (“judgment”) on June 15, 2004, sentencing Roberts to 15 months’ imprisonment, starting on June 28, 2004, immediately followed by three years’ supervised release, with conditions.  The Court also ordered Roberts to pay restitution of $368,703. 
18. On November 22, 2004, the Court issued an amended judgment, but did not change the sentence imposed on Roberts.
Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear the complaint.
  The MREC has the burden of proving that Roberts committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The MREC argues that Roberts is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2:


2.  The [MREC] may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by law when the [MREC] believes there is a probability that a licensee has performed or attempted to perform any of the following acts:

*   *   *


(15) Committing any act which would otherwise be grounds for the [MREC] to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040;

*   *   *


(17) Been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere in a criminal prosecution under the laws of this state or any other state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;

(18) Any other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings, or demonstrates bad faith or gross incompetence[.]

Refuse to Issue License


Section 339.040, RSMo Supp. 2005, provides:


1.  Licenses shall be granted only to persons who present . . . proof to the [MREC] that they:

(1) Are persons of good moral character; and

(2) Bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing; and

(3) Are competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public.


Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.
  When the MREC proves a criminal conviction, we determine moral character from the person’s conduct, present reputation, evidence of any rehabilitation, and upon “a consideration and determination of the entire factual congeries.”
  


At the hearing, Roberts denied that he committed the conduct underlying the conviction.  But Roberts’ conviction resulting from a guilty plea collaterally estops him from effectively disputing that he committed the crime.
  Thus, we have found that he did so.


We find that Roberts’ actions demonstrate that he is not a person of good moral character and is not competent to transact the business of a real estate broker salesperson.  These are grounds for the MREC to refuse to issue a license under § 339.040.1(1) and (3), which is cause to discipline Roberts’ license under § 339.100.2(15).


The MREC failed to prove that it would have cause to deny a license under § 339.040.1(2).  Reputation means “the estimation in which one is generally held : the character commonly imputed to one as distinct from real or inherent character[.]”
  Reputation is “consensus view of many people[.]”
  The MREC presented no evidence on Roberts’ reputation.

Guilty Plea


The MREC argues that Roberts’ plea of guilty to the Class D felony of fraud by wire is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(17) in that Roberts pled guilty to an offense an essential element of which is fraud and/or dishonesty and an offense involving moral turpitude.


Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”
In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 
(Mo. banc 1929)).


Title 18 U.S.C. § 1343 provides:
Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.  If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

The crime of fraud by wire is a crime involving moral turpitude.
  It is also a crime essential elements of which are fraud and dishonesty.  There is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(17).
Other Conduct


The MREC argues that Roberts is subject to discipline under § 339.100.2(18) for “any other conduct which constitutes untrustworthy, improper or fraudulent business dealings or demonstrates bad faith or gross incompetence[.]”
  The adjective “other” means “not the same : DIFFERENT, any [other] man would have done better[.]”
  Therefore, subdivision (18) refers to conduct different than referred to in the remaining subdivisions of § 339.100.2.


We have found that the conduct at issue is cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(15) and (17).  There is no “other” conduct.  Therefore, we find no cause for discipline under § 339.100.2(18).

Summary

There is cause to discipline Roberts under § 339.100.2(15) and (17).


SO ORDERED on December 5, 2006.



________________________________



JOHN J. KOPP



Commissioner

	�“Floor planning” is defined as “a system of financed wholesale purchasing of expensive items (as automobiles or major electrical appliances) whereby a retailer stocks his sales floor with a minimum outlay of cash.”  WEBSTER’S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 873 (unabr. 1986).  


	�Section 621.045, RSMo Supp. 2005.  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri.


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).


	�The MREC cites the 2000 version of the statute.  Although the subdivision number changed in subsequent versions, the causes for discipline are not significantly changed.


	�Hernandez v. State Bd. of Regis’n for Healing Arts, 936 S.W.2d 894, 899 n.1 (Mo. App., W.D. 1997).  


	�State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  See also State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. DeVore, 517 S.W.2d 480, 486 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).


	�Carr v. Holt, 134 S.W.3d 647, 649 (Mo. App., E.D. 2004) (citing James v. Paul, 49 S.W.3d 678, 682-83 (Mo. banc 2001)).


	�WEBSTER’S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 1929 (unabr. 1986).


	�Haynam v. Laclede Elec. Coop., 827 S.W.2d 200, 206 (Mo. banc 1992).


	�State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196, 201 (Mo. 1910).  


	�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 359 (11th ed. 2003).


	�See State Bd. of Nursing v. Heck, No. 05-0900 BN (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Dec. 6, 2005).


	�Emphasis added.


	�WEBSTER’S THIRD INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 1598 (unabr. 1986).
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